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OPINION

PER CURIAM. Dr. Roger Anderson was convicted of one count of conspiracy to
distribute controlled substances, eight counts of unlawful distribution of controlled substances,
and one count of healthcare fraud after an eight-day jury trial. On appeal, he challenges the

sufficiency of the evidence supporting his convictions, the district court’s refusal to give a good
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faith jury instruction, and the admission of the government’s expert’s testimony. For the reasons

that follow, we affirm.

A

Dr. Roger Anderson practiced as a licensed physician in Marietta, Ohio, where he
specialized in infectious diseases and internal medicine. He split his time between Marietta
Memorial Hospital, where he practiced both inpatient and outpatient medicine, and Marietta
Medical, an independent practice he founded focusing on infectious diseases. As a physician
registered with the Drug Enforcement Agency (“DEA”), Anderson was authorized to prescribe

Category Il through V controlled substances.

In early 2015, the DEA received a tip from a local pharmacist that Anderson was seeing
patients who had been discharged by other physicians for non-compliance reasons. The
pharmacist was one of several in the area who had grown concerned about Anderson’s
prescribing practices relating to pain medications. This tip prompted the DEA to launch an
investigation into Anderson. During its investigation, the DEA received information from the
State Medical Board of Ohio about suspicious prescriptions that Anderson had written. The
Board expressed concern that Anderson was not prescribing in the usual course of practice or for
a legitimate medical purpose. Separately, one of Anderson’s patients contacted the local
sheriff’s office, voicing his concern that he sometimes would not get to see Anderson at his
appointments and would occasionally retrieve his prescriptions from the receptionist rather than

from Anderson himself. The sheriff’s office put the patient in touch with the DEA.

The DEA asked, and the patient agreed, to become a confidential source. Outfitted with a
recording device, the confidential source visited Anderson’s practice a total of eight times. In
the first encounter, the confidential source told Anderson that he was “in full-blown withdrawal,”
but Anderson nevertheless wrote him a prescription for Vicodin. DE 86, Trial Tr. V, Page ID
1951. In a subsequent visit, the confidential source picked up a prescription for Vicodin without

having first seen Anderson.
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In February 2016, the DEA executed a search warrant and seized various documents from
Marietta Medical, including medical files, prescriptions, and appointment and payment records.
In March 2019, a federal grand jury returned a fourteen-count indictment against Anderson. The
indictment charged Anderson with: one count of conspiracy to distribute controlled substances,
21 U.S.C. 8§ 846; nine counts of unlawful distribution of controlled substances, 21 U.S.C.
88 841(a)(1); one count of conspiracy to commit healthcare fraud, 18 U.S.C. § 1349; and three
counts of healthcare fraud, 18 U.S.C. § 1347. Anderson elected to proceed to trial.*

B.

Before trial, the government disclosed that it would call Dr. Timothy E. King, a physician
specializing in pain medicine with board certifications in anesthesiology, pain management, and
addiction science, to provide expert testimony on “whether [Anderson]’s medical records are
consistent with the usual course of medical practice and whether the prescribing of controlled
substances by [Anderson] was for legitimate medical purposes.” DE 16, Resp., Page ID 81; see
also DE 24, Hr’g Tr., Page ID 134. Anderson filed a motion in limine seeking to exclude King’s
proposed testimony on the grounds that it “lack[ed] a clear methodology or established
standards” and because the government would be unable to “establish a foundation” for his
testimony at trial. DE 13, Mot. in Limine, Page ID 70. The government responded in

opposition, and the district court held a Daubert? hearing.

At the Daubert hearing, King testified about his methodology. He explained that he had
reviewed the files of fifty of Anderson’s patients and created a spreadsheet containing each
patient’s relevant medical history. King then compared this information to the following
standards of care: “Establishment of an objective medical diagnosis”; “Documentation of a
pertinent clinical history”; “Performance of a pertinent and targeted physical examination”;

“Presence of an adequate and thorough clinical workup”; “Delineation of mental health risk

The government dismissed one count of unlawful distribution of controlled substances, the conspiracy to
commit healthcare fraud count, and two counts of healthcare fraud prior to trial.

2Daubert v. Merrell Dow Pharms., Inc., 509 U.S. 579, 589, 597 (1993) (holding that district courts have a
“gatekeeping role” in ensuring that “any and all scientific testimony or evidence admitted is not only relevant, but
reliable”).
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factors”; “Delineation of co-morbid risk factors”; “Documentation of a defined treatment plan”;
“Consideration of high-risk drug combinations (i.e. polypharmacy)”; “Consideration of risks
associated with high dose opiates”; “Appropriate use of urine drug testing (UDT)”; “Appropriate
use of (state provided) prescription drug monitoring data (PDMP)”; “Documentation of objective
improvement in pain and function”; “Documentation and enforcement of drug related
misbehavior”; and “Ongoing clinical evaluation, risk assessment, and patient monitoring.” DE
16-2, King Aff.,, Page ID 99-101. King explained that these standards of care were a
“compendium of ... categories” formulated by the Federation of State Medical Boards, the
American Board of Anesthesiology, the American Board of Pain Medicine, and other
organizations. DE 24, Hr’g Tr., Page ID 177.

King testified that, after comparing the patient data to the standards of care, he created a
narrative report in which he opined on whether the patients had been prescribed controlled
substances for a legitimate medical purpose and within the usual course of professional practice.
Of the fifty patients whose files he reviewed, twenty-eight were prescribed controlled substances.
Anderson responded that although “this kind of testimony has been offered in other cases,”
King’s methodology had not been peer-reviewed or verified by other physicians and was
therefore unreliable. Id. at Page ID 208. Anderson also argued that King could not properly take

a small subset of his patients and extrapolate across his entire medical practice.

The district court issued a written opinion after the Daubert hearing, denying Anderson’s
motion in limine. It found that King’s proposed testimony met the threshold of reliability set
forth in Rule 702 of the Federal Rules of Evidence and Daubert. The district court stated that
any concerns about King’s methodology could be addressed on cross-examination and noted that
courts have frequently admitted similar expert testimony regarding whether prescriptions were

prescribed for a legitimate medical purpose.
C.

At trial, the government called twenty-four witnesses, including former patients and

employees of Marietta Medical, local pharmacists, King, DEA employees assigned to investigate
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Anderson, and individuals associated with Medicare and Medicaid. Anderson called no

witnesses of his own.

Former Patients. The jury heard from several of Anderson’s former patients, including
JB. JB testified that she began to see Anderson in 2014, when she was pregnant with her first
son. She recalled that during her first visit, Anderson walked into the patient room and did not
ask her any questions except “what are you here for?” DE 83, Trial Tr. II, Page ID 1224. When
JB told Anderson that she wanted a particular opioid, he prescribed it for her “no questions
asked.” ld. She further testified that, at the time, she “was an intravenous user . . . which was
very obvious” because her “face would be picked up” and she had “marks all over [her] arms.”
Id. at Page ID 1227. Further, although Anderson knew she was pregnant, he did not cut JB off
pain medications until she was eight-and-a-half months pregnant, when she had a “basketball
belly.” 1d. at Page ID 1236-37. JB testified that medications prescribed by Anderson were the

“easiest prescriptions I’ve ever got.” Id. at Page 1D 1237.

Another former patient, the confidential source recruited by the DEA, also testified
against Anderson. He testified that, during his first appointment, he explained what medications
he needed, and Anderson began writing out the prescriptions as he was speaking. Anderson did
not give the patient a physical exam or otherwise ask about his medical history beyond what the
patient volunteered. When the patient offered to have his medical records transferred to Marietta
Medical, Anderson responded that doing so would be unnecessary. The patient returned about
once a month to pick up prescriptions but did not always see Anderson. Other patients

confirmed that physical examinations were performed rarely, if at all.

Patients also testified that when they ran out of medication, they would simply text or call
Anderson requesting a new prescription. JB, for example, recalled that she once texted
Anderson and informed him, falsely, that a friend had stolen her prescription, and requested a
new prescription. Anderson told her to meet him at his office that night. She met him at 11:30
p.m., and Anderson “just wrote [her] the prescription” without asking any questions. DE 83,
Trial Tr. II, Page ID 1226. Anderson also freely granted his patients’ requests for stronger doses

of medication.
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Former Employees. The government also presented the testimony of several of
Anderson’s former employees. Teddy Tackett, Anderson’s property manager, testified that
Anderson frequently left signed prescriptions for his staff to pass out to patients the next day.
Anderson did so without having seen the patients, as Tackett testified that if Anderson had seen a
patient the previous night, he would have given the prescription to the patient directly. Tackett
also described the atmosphere at Marietta Medical as “chaos” due to Anderson’s unpredictable
hours and tardiness and large numbers of patients waiting for medications. DE 84, Trial Tr. Ill,
Page ID 1335, 1337. Mollie Reed, the receptionist, testified that sometimes “[t]here would be
patients spilling out into the steps, the street area waiting, smoking cigarettes. It was a crazy
time.” DE 87, Trial Tr. VI, Page ID 2112.

Pharmacists. Several area pharmacists testified regarding Anderson’s prescribing
practices. Glenn Norosky, a pharmacist at Rite Aid, testified that patients sometimes attempted
to refill their prescriptions too early; when Norosky refused to refill them, Anderson occasionally
called him asking why he did not fill their prescriptions. Norosky noted that he found it “odd”
that whenever he tried calling Anderson’s office, he could never reach Anderson but Anderson
would always be able to reach Norosky. DE 85 Trial Tr. IV, Page ID 1538-39. Norosky also
testified that he filed two suspicious-prescribing reports against Anderson. He filed the first
report after noticing that Anderson was writing an increasing number of prescriptions for opiates

for young patients, many of whom were unfamiliar to Norosky.

Shawndra Parks, another local pharmacist, echoed concerns that Anderson was
prescribing higher doses of pain medication to an increasing number of younger patients, a
practice she characterized as a “red flag.” DE 88, Trial Tr. VII, Page ID 2331. Christine Dearth,
a pharmacist at CVS, testified that other pharmacists noticed Anderson’s suspicious prescribing
patterns and agreed as a group to stop filling prescriptions for pain medications written by

Anderson.

Dr. King. As he did at the Daubert hearing, King testified that he had reviewed fifty
patient files taken from Marietta Medical. With respect to the twenty-eight patients who were
prescribed controlled substances, King expressed the general opinion that Anderson “was not

prescribing within the usual course of medical practice,” DE 84, Trial Tr. III, Page ID 1490, and
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therefore that the controlled substances that Anderson prescribed lacked a legitimate medical
purpose, id. at Page ID 1491-92. King explained that for these patients, Anderson failed to
obtain an objective and legitimate medical diagnosis, perform a physical examination and
workup to identify risk factors, formulate an appropriate treatment plan incorporating treatments
other than controlled substances, and enforce compliance measures such as urine drug screenings

and monitoring for aberrant behaviors.

King opined specifically on Anderson’s prescribing practices with respect to each of the
eight patients whose prescriptions formed the basis of the unlawful distribution counts. He
testified that in his opinion, each of the patients had been prescribed controlled substances
outside the usual course of professional practice and without a legitimate medical purpose. For
example, King testified that patient KB had a “grossly abnormal urine drug screen” indicating
the absence of two drugs he was being prescribed by Anderson—oxycodone and Adderall—and
the presence of two drugs he was not prescribed—gabapentin, which increases the euphoric
sensation of controlled substances, and a Norco-like medication. DE 84, Trial Tr. Ill, Page ID
1497-1501. King testified that there was no indication that Anderson spoke with KB about the

abnormal drug screen, and that KB’s medical file was essentially blank.

Witnesses Affiliated with Medicare and Medicaid and Fraud Investigations. The jury
also heard testimony about Anderson’s noncompliance with Medicare and Medicaid
requirements and the impact of Anderson’s prescribing practices on those programs. Heather
Hire, a Medicaid administrator for the state, testified that Medicaid providers such as Anderson
agree to render only medical services that are necessary and in compliance with federal law. She
explained that Medicaid would not pay for services that were rendered in contravention of state
or federal law. An employee of an entity that contracts with the Centers for Medicare and
Medicaid Services to investigate fraud and waste testified that Medicare providers must render
services in accordance with federal law. She testified that Medicare would not pay for services
or medications it knew were medically unnecessary or were prescribed in violation of state or

federal law.

Joseph DiSalvio, Jr., a special agent investigator for the Ohio Attorney General’s

Medicaid Fraud Control Unit, identified twelve Medicaid patients among the twenty-eight
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patients who had been prescribed opiates whose files were examined by King. In total, Medicaid
paid $13,097.88 for Schedule 11 through V substances for these twelve patients. Andrew Ranck,
a CPA who performs audits for Medicare, testified that from 2013 to 2016, the impact to

Medicare of prescriptions written by Anderson was $7,488.91.
D.

At the charge conference, the government sought to remove a good faith instruction
pertaining to the unlawful distribution of controlled substances counts from its earlier-proposed
jury instructions. That instruction read, in relevant part:

If a doctor dispenses a drug in good faith in medically treating a patient, then the

doctor has dispensed the drug for a legitimate medical purpose in the usual course
of medical practice. That is, he has dispensed the drug lawfully.

Good faith in this context means good intentions in the honest exercise of best
professional judgment as to a patient’s need. It means the doctor acted in
accordance with what he believed to be proper medical practice. If you find the
defendant acted in good faith in dispensing the drugs, then you must find him not

guilty.
DE 26, Proposed Jury Instr., Page ID 240.

The government argued that there was no basis to issue this instruction under United
States v. Godofsky, 943 F.3d 1011 (6th Cir. 2019). Godofsky, the government argued, held that a
physician’s “subjective good faith” is irrelevant and that, in any case, Anderson had not elicited
sufficient evidence at trial regarding his own good faith, either through a proffer or through
direct or cross-examination. DE 88, Trial Tr. VII, Page ID 2305, 2309. Anderson objected,
arguing that Godofsky was inapposite because the defendant there did receive a good faith
instruction and the case on appeal instead centered on whether it was an objective good faith

instruction or a subjective good faith instruction.

The district court took the matter under advisement. The next day, the district court
determined that “it would be error for the Court to include the good faith defense language”
because “Godofsky is virtually on all fours with our case.” DE 89, Trial Tr. VIII, Page ID 2388.
To Anderson’s benefit, the district court noted that another set of instructions he planned to give

the jury “maybe subsumes the good faith defense—or the good faith defense is subsumed in it.”
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Id. at Page ID 2390. Accordingly, the district court removed the two paragraphs regarding good
faith from the final jury instructions.

E.

Anderson moved for a judgment of acquittal after the government presented its case, and
the district court denied the motion. The jury convicted Anderson on all ten counts, and
Anderson appealed.

1.
A

Anderson first argues that the district court abused its discretion in declining to give the
proposed good faith instruction for the charges of unlawful distribution under 21 U.S.C.
§841(a).3 “We review a challenge to the trial court’s denial of a requested jury instruction for
abuse of discretion and will reverse only if the denied instruction was: ‘(1) a correct statement of
the law, (2) not substantially covered by the charge actually delivered to the jury, and
(3) concern[ed] a point so important in the trial that the failure to give it substantially impair[ed]
the defendant’s defense.”” Godofsky, 943 F.3d at 1019 (quoting United States v. Volkman,
797 F.3d 377, 385 (6th Cir. 2015)).

We first consider whether the government’s withdrawn jury instruction was a correct
statement of the law. As judicial interpretation of § 841 has evolved in recent years, we briefly

review its development.

29 <¢

The Controlled Substances Act prohibits “any person,” “[e]xcept as authorized[,]” from
“knowingly or intentionally” manufacturing, distributing, dispensing, or possessing controlled
substances. 21 U.S.C. 8 841(a). Because doctors and physicians regularly prescribe controlled

substances, the “except as authorized” clause has greater relevance when a physician is charged

3When Anderson objected to the government’s effort to withdraw the instruction, the district court treated
the instruction as if offered by Anderson.
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with improperly exercising that power. See United States v. Moore, 423 U.S. 122, 131-32
(1975). A doctor’s prescription is authorized within the meaning of § 841(a) when it is made
“for a legitimate medical purpose . . . in the usual course of his professional practice.” 21 C.F.R.
§ 1306.04(a). “How to properly capture § 841(a)’s elements in a jury instruction—especially the
‘except as authorized’ proviso and the guidance provided by § 1306.04(a)—is a difficult question
we have addressed before.” United States v. Fabode, Case No. 21-1491, 2022 WL 16825408, at
*6 (6th Cir. Nov. 8, 2022).

At the time briefing in this case was completed, the binding precedent in this circuit was
Godofsky. Godofsky held that the subjective good faith of the defendant was irrelevant to the
“except as authorized” clause for physicians tried under § 841(a). See 943 F.3d at 1026-27.
However, after briefing in this case was completed, the Supreme Court decided Ruan v. United
States, 142 S. Ct. 2370 (2022), holding that the mens rea standard of “knowingly or
intentionally” applies to the entirety of § 841(a)—including the “except as authorized” clause.
142 S. Ct. at 2375. That is, “once a defendant meets the burden of producing evidence that his or
her conduct was ‘authorized,” the Government must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the
defendant knowingly or intentionally acted in an unauthorized manner.” Id. at 2376 (emphasis
added). To prove this subjective standard of knowledge or intent, however, the parties can
present circumstantial evidence of “objective criteria such as ‘legitimate medical purpose’ and

‘usual course’ of ‘professional practice.”” 1d. at 2382 (quoting 21 C.F.R. § 1306.04(a)).

In light of Ruan, we must consider whether the good faith instruction that Anderson
requested is a correct statement of the law. After all, Anderson did not ask the district court to
instruct the jury that it must find that he knowingly or intentionally prescribed controlled
substances without authorization. Instead, Anderson requested a good faith instruction that

mentioned neither knowledge nor intent.# And the Supreme Court gave limited counsel in Ruan

“The good faith instruction that Anderson requested is reproduced here:

If a doctor dispenses a drug in good faith in medically treating a patient, then the doctor has
dispensed the drug for a legitimate medical purpose in the usual course of medical practice. That
is, he has dispensed the drug lawfully.

Good faith in this context means good intentions in the honest exercise of best professional
judgment as to a patient’s need. It means the doctor acted in accordance With what he believed
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regarding good faith instructions, stating only that “§ 841, like many criminal statutes, uses the
familiar mens rea words ‘knowingly or intentionally.” It nowhere uses words such as ‘good

faith,” ‘objectively,” ‘reasonable,” or ‘honest effort.”” Ruan, 142 S. Ct. at 2381.

Only one circuit, the Eleventh, has addressed whether a good faith instruction can
comport with Ruan. After Ruan was decided and remanded, the Eleventh Circuit addressed the
issue of whether a good faith instruction adequately informs a jury of the “knowledge or intent”
requirement. United States v. Ruan, 56 F.4th 1291 (11th Cir. 2023) (“Ruan I11”’). The opinion
first distinguished between subjective and objective good faith instructions. It noted that
“[wlithout further qualification, the phrase ‘good faith’ encompasses both subjective and
objective good faith” and then concluded that “only the subjective version is appropriate.” Id. at
1297. The court then remanded the case to the district court, concluding that the totality of the
jury instructions failed to “convey that a subjective analysis was required for the ‘except as
authorized’” clause of § 841. 1d. Ruan Ill, although it lacks perfect clarity, implies that a
properly qualified subjective good faith instruction performs the same function as the

“knowledge or intent” requirement identified by the Supreme Court.

The proposed good faith instruction did not contain any “further qualification” that made
clear Anderson’s subjective good faith was the relevant inquiry. See Ruan Ill, 56 F.4th at 1297.
This is unsurprising, as Anderson conceded he wanted the jury to consider his objective good
faith. To the extent Anderson appeals the district court “declin[ing] to instruct the jury on the

299

defense of objective ‘good faith,”” the proposed jury instruction was not a correct statement of

law. Opening Br. at 12.

But assuming that the proposed good faith instruction concerns subjective good faith, we
need not explore further whether there is any meaningful distinction between “subjective good
faith” and “knowledge or intent.” Rather, we examine whether the instructions given here

comport with Ruan’s directive and substantially cover the requested instruction.

to be proper medical practice. If you find the defendant acted in good faith in dispensing the
drugs, then you must find him not guilty.

DE 26, Proposed Jury Instr., Page 1D 240.
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In charging the jury on the crime of distributing a controlled substance under § 841, the

district court first explained the elements of the crime:

First, the defendant knowingly or intentionally dispensed or distributed a
Schedule 11 controlled substance, including fentanyl, Adderall, oxycodone and
hydrocone; and,

Second, that the defendant, Dr. Anderson, prescribed the drug without a
legitimate medical purpose and outside the course of professional practice.
DE 89, Trial Tr. VIII, Page ID 2474. The court then gave “more detailed instructions on some of
these terms.” Id. In describing terms related to the second element, it explained that:
Although knowledge of the defendant cannot be established merely by
demonstrating he was careless, knowledge may be inferred if the defendant
deliberately blinded himself to the existence of a fact. No one can avoid
responsibility for a crime by deliberately ignoring the obvious. If you are
convinced that the defendant deliberately ignored a high probability that the
controlled substance was distributed or dispensed without a legitimate medical
purpose in the usual course of professional practice, then you may find that the
defendant knew this was the case.
Id. at Page ID 2476-77. The instruction given to the jury specifically covers the holding of
Ruan, by referring continuously to the “knowledge of the defendant,” his “deliberate ignorance,”
and if he “knew” that the prescriptions were dispensed illegitimately. 1d. Such terms go beyond

an objective view of the “usual course of professional practice” and instead direct the jury’s

attention to Anderson’s subjective mindset in issuing the prescriptions.

The court goes on to further emphasize that knowledge, and no lesser level of culpability,

is required to find Anderson guilty on this element:

But you must be convinced beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant was
aware of a high probability that the controlled substances were distributed or
dispensed other than for a legitimate medical purpose while acting in the usual
course of professional practice, and that the defendant deliberately closed his eyes
to what was obvious. Carelessness, or negligence, or foolishness on his part are
not the same as knowledge and are not enough to find him guilty on this count.

Id. at Page 1D 2477 (emphasis added). The instructions given by the court, though not expressed
in the way Anderson requested, substantially cover the concept of knowledge through the
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description of deliberate ignorance and the juxtaposition of “knowledge” with “[c]arelessness,
negligence, or foolishness.” 1d.; cf. United States v. Damra, 621 F.3d 474, 502 (6th Cir. 2010)
(finding that, in the tax evasion context, a good faith instruction was substantially covered by the
court’s instruction that the defendant had to have acted voluntarily and deliberately to violate
known law to be found guilty). Because the jury instructions given in Anderson’s case appear to
comport with Ruan and to substantially cover the requested instruction, we reject Anderson’s

argument that the district court abused its discretion in failing to give a good faith instruction.
B.

We next address Anderson’s evidentiary challenge. Anderson contends that the district
court abandoned its gatekeeping function by admitting King’s expert testimony. He asserts that
King did not disclose his methodology in his reports, that his methodology has not been peer-
reviewed, and that his expert opinion amounted to “scientific guesswork.” CA6 R. 26, Corr.

Appellant Br., at 42. We disagree.

“For expert testimony to be admissible, the court must find the expert to be: (1) qualified,
(2) her testimony to be relevant; and (3) her testimony to be reliable.” United States v. LaVictor,
848 F.3d 428, 441 (6th Cir. 2017) (citing Daubert, 509 U.S. at 589). District courts perform “a
gatekeeping role in screening the reliability of expert testimony.” Tamraz v. Lincoln Elec. Co.,
620 F.3d 665, 668 (6th Cir. 2010) (internal quotation marks omitted). “We review a district
court’s decision to admit or exclude expert testimony for abuse of discretion.” United States v.

Gardner, 32 F.4th 504, 519 (6th Cir. 2022).

Anderson first argues that the district court abused its discretion in admitting King’s
testimony because King’s narrative reports “contained bare conclusions” without providing “any
citation or basis in medical or scientific reasoning.” CA6 R. 26, Corr. Appellant Br., at 27. But
during the Daubert hearing, King provided detailed testimony about the sources on which he
relied and the manner in which he determined whether the patients whose files he reviewed were
prescribed controlled substances in the usual course of professional practice and for a legitimate
medical purpose. King further testified that he put each patient’s medical record into a “forensic

chronology” and then compared that chronology to the fifteen standards of care commonly
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applied to pain management practices. DE 24, Hr’g Tr., Page ID 143-44. From there, King
prepared a “forensic summary” describing whether each of the fifteen standards had been
properly addressed for each patient. 1d. at Page ID 145. Anderson’s argument about the

scientific inadequacy of King’s reports is without merit.

Next, Anderson contends that the district court abdicated its gatekeeping function by
failing to make any findings about the reliability of this methodology. However, this assertion is
belied by the record. The district court issued a thorough written opinion in which it determined
that “Dr. King’s proposed expert testimony meets the reliability standard under Rule 702 and
Daubert.” DE 29, Op. and Order, Page ID 265. The district court also noted that King had
submitted a declaration explaining that he relied on “generally accepted methodologies” and
standards recognized by professional medical organizations. Id. at Page ID 265-66. The district
court therefore fulfilled its duty to determine “whether the reasoning or methodology underlying
the testimony is scientifically valid.” Newell Rubbermaid, Inc. v. Raymond Corp., 676 F.3d 521,
527 (6th Cir. 2012) (quoting Daubert, 509 U.S. at 592-93).

Anderson also assails King’s fifteen standards of care, arguing that they are not contained
in any textbook, peer-reviewed publication, or other scholarly resource. the specific combination
of standards King formulated has not been peer reviewed, King testified that the standards
themselves were drawn from “peer-reviewed medical literature, . . . protocols, papers and
recommendations put forth by our professional organizations.” DE 24, Hr’g Tr., Page ID 146
(emphasis added). The district court also rejected this argument, observing that courts frequently
admit expert testimony on the question of whether medications were prescribed with a legitimate
medical purpose. We agree and note that the Eleventh Circuit has previously rejected a
challenge to the reliability of expert methodology based in part on a model policy from the
Federation of State Medical Boards, which formed the primary basis of Dr. King’s standards of
care. See United States v. Azmat, 805 F.3d 1018, 1040 (11th Cir. 2015); see also DE 24, Hr’g
Tr., at Page ID 177.

We also reject Anderson’s argument that King’s testimony amounted to “scientific
guesswork.” CAG6 R. 26, Corr. Appellant Br., at 42. As the district court noted in its opinion,

King has “provided expert testimony in a number of other cases on similar issues and has never
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had his testimony excluded at trial.” DE 29, Op. and Order, Page ID 266. Furthermore, we have
previously affirmed admission of expert testimony similar to that provided by King. See
Volkman, 797 F.3d at 388 (expert testified “about a patient’s condition and the prescriptions [the
defendant] dispensed, [and] the Government would ask the expert whether he or she had an

opinion as to whether the prescriptions fell within the scope of legitimate medical practice”).

Finally, although Anderson devotes several pages of his briefing to challenging King’s
conclusions regarding the patients whose files he examined, we find that these arguments go “to
the accuracy of the conclusions, not to the reliability of the testimony.” In re Scrap Metal
Antitrust Litig., 527 F.3d 517, 530 (6th Cir. 2008). As we have stated, “[t]he task for the district
court in deciding whether an expert’s opinion is reliable is not to determine whether it is correct,
but rather to determine whether it rests upon a reliable foundation, as opposed to, say,
unsupported speculation.” 1d. at 529-30. The district court did so here. Any other concerns
about the reliability of King’s testimony were properly addressed through cross-examination and
opportunity to present a defense case. See Daubert, 509 U.S. at 596 (“Vigorous cross-
examination, presentation of contrary evidence, and careful instruction on the burden of proof

are the traditional and appropriate means of attacking shaky but admissible evidence.”).

Accordingly, we reject Anderson’s challenge to the admission of King’s expert
testimony.

C.

Finally, we address Anderson’s sufficiency-of-the-evidence challenges. “We review a
challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence in a criminal case de novo.” United States v. Woods,
14 F.4th 544, 551 (6th Cir. 2021). In doing so, we ask “whether, after reviewing the evidence in
the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the
essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt.” United States v. Sadler, 24 F.4th
515, 539 (6th Cir. 2022) (citation omitted). “All reasonable inferences must be made to support
the jury verdict,” LaVictor, 848 F.3d at 456, so the defendant “bears a very heavy burden” on a
sufficiency-of-the-evidence challenge, United States v. Hills, 27 F.4th 1155, 1172 (6th Cir.
2022).
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Anderson first challenges his convictions for conspiracy to distribute controlled
substances and unlawfully distributing controlled substances. He contends that the evidence
presented at trial showed that he committed mere malpractice and that, at worst, he practiced
“with sloppy documentation or in a hurried fashion.” CA6 R. 26, Corr. Appellant Br., at 52, 55.

We conclude that sufficient evidence supported Anderson’s convictions.

The indictment charged Anderson with nine counts of unlawful distribution of controlled
substances in violation of 21 U.S.C. 8§88 841(a)(1) and (b)(1)(C). The government voluntarily
dismissed one count prior to trial, and the jury ultimately convicted Anderson of the remaining
eight counts. “In order to obtain a conviction under 21 U.S.C. § 841(a)(1) against a licensed
physician . . . the government must show: ‘(1) That defendant distributed a controlled substance;
(2) That he acted intentionally or knowingly; and (3) That defendant prescribed the drug without
a legitimate medical purpose and outside the course of professional practice.”” United States v.

Johnson, 71 F.3d 539, 542 (6th Cir. 1995) (citation omitted).

The evidence at trial was sufficient to support Anderson’s convictions for unlawful
distribution of controlled substances. The jury heard testimony from two of Anderson’s former
patients who testified that they either showed signs of or admitted to addiction when they came
to him asking for pain medications. JB, for example, testified that she showed “obvious” signs
of being an intravenous drug user because her “face would be picked up” and she had marks on
her arms, but that Anderson still prescribed her pain medications. DE 83, Trial Tr. Il, Page ID
1227. Similarly, the DEA’s confidential source testified that he told Anderson that he was “in
full-blown withdrawal,” but that Anderson still prescribed him medications. DE 86, Trial Tr. V,
Page ID 1951. Patients also testified that they told Anderson which medications they wanted and
that they would call or text him when they ran out. Physical examinations were either
infrequent, cursory, or non-existent. Based on this evidence, a rational juror could conclude that
Anderson knowingly prescribed controlled substances without a legitimate medical purpose and
outside the usual course of professional practice. See United States v. Chaney, 921 F.3d 572,
591 (6th Cir. 2019) (sustaining § 841(a) conviction where, among other evidence, former patient

testified that “he was prescribed Percocet on his first visit to the clinic[ and] that he was
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physically examined only once”); Johnson, 71 F.3d at 542 (rejecting sufficiency-of-the-evidence
challenge to conviction under § 841(a) where some of the evidence showed that “defendant
prescribed narcotics upon request and without medical examinations™); see also United States v.
Bek, 493 F.3d 790, 799 (7th Cir. 2007) (upholding conviction under § 841(a) where evidence
showed, among other things, that physician “disregard[ed] . . . blatant signs of drug abuse,” and

performed “uniform, superficial, and careless medical examinations”).

King’s expert testimony further established that Anderson’s prescribing practices fell far
short of professional practice. King based his testimony on his examination of patient files—
including individuals whose prescriptions form the basis of the unlawful distribution counts—
and observed that Anderson frequently failed to establish an objective and legitimate pain
diagnosis, perform a physical examination, put together an appropriate treatment plan accounting
for a patient’s comorbidities, and enforce compliance measures. Based on these observations
and his thirty years of experience, King concluded that Anderson was prescribing medications
without a legitimate medical purpose and outside the usual course of professional practice. The
testimony on this point was extensive and not, as Anderson argues, evidence of “mere

malpractice.” CA6 R. 26, Corr. Appellant Br., at 52.

Anderson also contends that he always prescribed his patients controlled substances “to
treat what he believed to be their legitimate medical complaint.” Id. at 55. But a reasonable jury
could conclude that he was not acting in “good faith and with all due care” when he prescribed

opioids to patients who were “merely faking symptoms.” Chaney, 921 F.3d at 590.

For these reasons, we reject Anderson’s sufficiency-of-the-evidence challenge to his

convictions for conspiracy to distribute and distribution of controlled substances.
2.

Anderson also challenges the sufficiency of the evidence supporting his conviction for
healthcare fraud. He explains that it was the pharmacies, not he, who billed Medicare and
Medicaid, and argues that he did not know how the prescriptions would be paid for, nor did he

personally profit from the prescription reimbursements. We disagree.



No. 21-3073 United States v. Anderson Page 18

The indictment charged Anderson with one count of conspiracy to commit healthcare
fraud in violation of 18 U.S.C. 8 1349 and three counts of healthcare fraud in violation of
18 U.S.C. § 1347. Prior to trial, the government voluntarily dismissed the conspiracy count and
two healthcare fraud counts; the jury convicted Anderson on the remaining healthcare fraud
count. To prove a violation of § 1347, the government was required to prove that Anderson
“(1) knowingly devised a scheme or artifice to defraud a health care benefit program in
connection with the delivery of or payment for health care benefits, items, or services;
(2) executed or attempted to execute this scheme or artifice to defraud; and (3) acted with intent
to defraud.” United States v. Semrau, 693 F.3d 510, 524 (6th Cir. 2012) (quoting United States
v. Martinez, 588 F.3d 301, 314 (6th Cir. 2009)).

Direct evidence of fraudulent intent is not required. United States v. Persaud, 866 F.3d
371, 380 (6th Cir. 2017). “[A] jury may consider circumstantial evidence and infer intent from
evidence of efforts to conceal the unlawful activity, from misrepresentations, from proof of
knowledge, and from profits.” Id. (quoting United States v. Agbebiyi, 575 F. App’x 624, 634
(6th Cir. 2014)). A defendant is guilty of healthcare fraud if he “contributed to the execution of
the scheme with intent to defraud.” United States v. Hunt, 521 F.3d 636, 645 (6th Cir. 2008).

The evidence presented at trial was sufficient to allow a rational juror to find beyond a
reasonable doubt that Anderson caused claims to be submitted to Medicare and Medicaid for
services that were medically unnecessary and in contravention of federal law. To become a
provider for Medicare and Medicaid, Anderson was required to sign a provider agreement in
which he agreed to render services in accordance with federal law. Witnesses affiliated with
Medicare and Medicaid testified that neither program would pay for claims that were medically
unnecessary or in contravention of federal law. The jury heard extensive testimony that
Anderson prescribed controlled substances to patients who filled those prescriptions at local
pharmacies. King testified that, in his expert opinion, Anderson prescribed controlled substances
without a legitimate medical purpose and outside the usual course of professional practice.
Witnesses also testified about these prescriptions’ monetary impact on Medicare and Medicaid.
Viewing this evidence in the light most favorable to the government, the evidence was sufficient

to convict Anderson of healthcare fraud.
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Anderson asserts that his conviction was improper because it was the pharmacies, not he,
that billed Medicare and Medicaid. This argument is unavailing. The district court correctly
instructed the jury that it need not “find that [Anderson] personally committed the acts charged
in the indictment([;]” rather, it could convict him “if he willfully caused an act to be done which
would be a federal crime if directly performed by him or another.” DE 89, Trial Tr. VIII, Page
ID 2481. In Hunt, we upheld the healthcare fraud conviction of a physician who caused his
associate to bill Medicare for ultrasound tests that had not been medically necessary. 521 F.3d at
640, 645-46. Similarly, in United States v. Bertram, 900 F.3d 743 (6th Cir. 2018), we upheld
the healthcare fraud convictions of several defendants who started a urinalysis testing company
and caused the testing laboratories to bill the insurer for tests that were not medically necessary.
Id. at 747, 751.

Anderson argues that, because he did not know how the medications he prescribed would
be paid for, he could not have knowingly devised a scheme to defraud Medicare and Medicaid.
But the record indicates that Anderson did know how these medication costs were covered. For
example, JB, a patient of Anderson’s whose prescription forms the basis of one of the unlawful
distribution counts, testified that she received coverage for prescription drugs through Medicaid.
JB testified that Anderson once changed her medication from one opiate to another,
“explain[ing] . . . that they would not—meaning the pharmacies would not cover it with my
Medicaid, if it was—you know, if I filled it. It wasn’t going to be filled without me going to a
different pharmacy and paying cash money.” DE 83, Trial Tr. II, Page ID 1243. A rational juror
could therefore conclude that Anderson knew at least some of the prescriptions he wrote were

being paid for by healthcare benefit programs.

Next, Anderson argues that he did not profit from the prescription reimbursements and
therefore did not have the requisite intent to defraud. However, proof that a defendant profited
from an alleged scheme to defraud is not required to obtain a conviction under § 1347; it is
merely circumstantial evidence of intent to defraud. See Persaud, 866 F.3d at 380.

The government presented sufficient evidence of intent to defraud to convict Anderson of
healthcare fraud. See United States v. Webb, 655 F.3d 1238, 1258 (11th Cir. 2011) (per curiam)
(explaining that “the type of health care fraud here involved Webb’s prescribing controlled
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substances for other than legitimate medical purposes, and having pharmacies submit claims for
reimbursement to health insurers on the basis of his prescriptions”); Bek, 493 F.3d at 801
(affirming conviction for aiding and abetting healthcare fraud where trial testimony showed that
defendant “was aware that he prescribed unnecessary medication and that the health care benefit
programs would ultimately pay some (or all) of the costs of those medically unnecessary
drugs.”). Therefore, we reject Anderson’s challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence

supporting his healthcare fraud conviction.
1.

For the foregoing reasons, we affirm.
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CONCURRING IN PART AND DISSENTING IN PART

HELENE N. WHITE, Circuit Judge, concurring in part and dissenting in part.

I concur in the affirmance of the admission of King’s expert testimony and the rejection
of Anderson’s challenges to the sufficiency of the evidence. | dissent, however from Section
I1.A.2 of the majority opinion, which concludes that the jury instructions comport with Ruan v.
United States, 142 S. Ct. 2370 (2022), and substantially covered Anderson’s requested good-
faith instruction.

When the district court charged the jury on the 21 U.S.C. § 841 count, it began by
distinguishing between § 841°s two elements. It instructed that, for a guilty verdict, the jury had
to find, first, that Anderson had “knowingly or intentionally dispensed or distributed” the
controlled substance and, second, that Anderson “prescribed the drug without a legitimate
medical purpose and outside the course of professional practice.” R.89, PID 2474. Unlike the
instruction on the first element, the second element’s instruction identified no mens rea
requirement. The Supreme Court’s Ruan opinion, however, teaches that the second element too
must be performed knowingly or intentionally. 142 S. Ct. at 2375. Without such clarification,
this charge by itself does not satisfy Ruan.

As the majority notes, the district court also gave a more detailed instruction in its

discussion of deliberate indifference. It charged:

Although knowledge of the defendant cannot be established merely by
demonstrating he was careless, knowledge may be inferred if the defendant
deliberately blinded himself to the existence of a fact. No one can avoid
responsibility for a crime by deliberately ignoring the obvious. If you are
convinced that the defendant deliberately ignored a high probability that the
controlled substance was distributed or dispensed without a legitimate medical
purpose in the usual course of professional practice, then you may find that the
defendant knew that this was the case. But you must be convinced beyond a
reasonable doubt that the defendant was aware of a high probability that the
controlled substances were distributed or dispensed other than for a legitimate
medical purpose while acting in the usual course of professional practice, and that
the defendant deliberately closed his eyes to what was obvious. Carelessness, or
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negligence, or foolishness on his part are not the same as knowledge and are not
enough to find him guilty on this count.

R.89, PID 2476-77. This instruction comes close to, but falls short of, Ruan’s requirement.

The instruction tells the jury that it can infer knowledge if it finds that Anderson
deliberately ignored obvious facts; it does not inform the jury that to return a guilty verdict it had
to find that Anderson knew or intended that he was prescribing the controlled substances without
a legitimate medical purpose outside the usual course of professional practice. Yet, the second
element does not depend on perceiving or ignoring probabilities. Anderson either understood
and intended to prescribed controlled substances without a legitimate medical purpose in the
usual course of professional practice, or he did not. That is, the instruction does not further
clarify that both elements require the “knowledge or intent” mens rea. Telling the jury that
carelessness, negligence, or foolishness is insufficient is not tantamount to instructing what

mental state is required.

Accordingly, | part ways with the majority in that | do not read these two instructions,
alone and in tandem, to comport with Ruan. But I also would go further than the majority and
recognize that Anderson’s requested good-faith instruction comports with Ruan. Anderson’s
requested instruction is near-identical to that in United States v. Godofsky, 943 F.3d 1011, 1019
(6th Cir. 2019). Anderson’s requested good faith instruction reads:

If a doctor dispenses a drug in good faith in medically treating a patient, then the
doctor has dispensed the drug for a legitimate medical purpose in the usual course
of medical practice. That is, he has dispensed the drug lawfully.

Good faith in this context means good intentions in the honest exercise of best
professional judgment as to a patient’s need. It means the doctor acted in
accordance with what he believed to be proper medical practice. If you find the
defendant acted in good faith in dispensing the drugs, then you must find him not

guilty.
R.26, PID 240. The requested instruction in Godofsky reads:

It is the theory of the defense that Dr. Godofsky treated his patients in good faith.
If a physician dispenses a drug in good faith in the course of medically treating a
patient, then the doctor has dispensed the drug for a legitimate medical purpose in
the usual course of accepted medical practice. That is, he has dispensed the drug
lawfully.
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‘Good faith’ in this context means good intentions and an honest exercise of
professional judgment as to a patient's medical needs. It means that the defendant
acted in accordance with what he reasonably believed to be proper medical
practice. In considering whether the Defendant acted with a legitimate medical
purpose in the course of usual professional practice, you should consider all of the
Defendant's actions and the circumstances surrounding them. If you find that the
Defendant acted in good faith in dispensing the drugs charged in these counts of
the superseding indictment, then you must find the Defendant not guilty on those
counts.

943 F.3d at 1022 (brackets omitted). The Godofsky Court recognized that this good-faith
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instruction “means an individual, personal, or subjective ‘good faith,”” requiring jurors to “acquit
him if they found that he might have held a personal belief that such prescriptions would benefit
his patients.” Id. at 1026. In Godofsky, we rejected this instruction as an incorrect statement of
law. Id. at 1027. But Ruan shows that the instruction accurately stated the law. That is, both
instructions “perform[] the same function as the ‘knowledge or intent’ requirement identified” in
Ruan. See supra Section II.A.1 (discussing United States v. Ruan, 56 F.4th 1291 (11th Cir.
2023)). As aresult, I further disagree that the given instructions in Anderson’s trial substantially

cover Anderson’s requested good-faith instruction.!

| respectfully dissent from Section I1.A.2.

11 do not agree that Anderson conceded the issue. Anderson objected when the district court declined to
give the requested instruction, and he filed his briefing on appeal prior to the Supreme Court’s decision in Ruan.



